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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

_________________ X
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA PLEA AGREEMENT
- against - 14-CR-625 (S-4) (DLI)
23-CR-021 (DLI)
DAIRO ANTONIO USUGA DAVID, 23-CR-027 (DLI)
also known as “Otoniel, “Mao,”
“Gallo” and “Mauricio-Gallo,”
Defendant.
_________________ X

Pursuant to Rule 11 of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure, the United States
Attorney’s Office for the Eastern District of New York, the United States Attorney’s Office for
the Southern District of Florida, and the United States Attorney’s Office for the Southern District
of New York (collectively, the “Offices”) and DAIRO ANTONIO USUGA DAVID (the
“defendant”) agree to the following:

The Eastern District of New York Indictment:

1. The defendant will plead guilty to Count One of the fourth superseding

indictment in United States v. Dairo Antonio Usuga David, et al., 14-CR-625 (S-4) (DLI)

(E.D.N.Y.) (the “EDNY Indictment”), charging a violation of 21 U.S.C. § 848. The count

carries the following statutory penalties:

a. Maximum term of imprisonment: life’
(21 U.S.C. § 848(a)).

: When the United States requested extradition of the defendant from Colombia, it
agreed that it would not seek a sentence of life imprisonment. Therefore, although the defendant
understands that the crimes to which he is pleading guilty each carry a maximum sentence of life
imprisonment, the government will not seek a sentence of life imprisonment in this case,




b. Minimum term of imprisonment: 20 years
(21 U.S.C. § 848(a)).

& Maximum supervised release term: 5 years, to follow any term of
imprisonment; if a condition of release is violated, the defendant
may be sentenced to up to 5 years without credit for pre-release
imprisonment or time previously served on post-release
supervision
(18 U.S.C. § 3583 (b) and (e)).

d. Maximum fine: $2,000,000
(21 U.S.C. § 848(a)).

e. Restitution: N/A.

f. $100 special assessment
(18 U.S.C. § 3013).

g Other penalties: criminal forfeiture, as set forth below in

paragraphs 8 through 15; removal, as set forth below in

paragraph 16

(21 U.S.C. §§ 853(a) and 853(p)).
The Southern District of Florida Indictment:

2. In connection with the indictment in United States v. Dairo Antonio Usuga

David, 15-CR-20403-WPD(s) (S.D.F.L.) (the “SDFL Indictment”), the defendant will consent to
transfer the case from the Southern District of Florida to the Eastern District of New York for
plea and sentencing, pursuant to Rule 20 of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure, and plead
puilty to Count Two of the superseding indictment, which has been assigned EDNY docket
number 23-CR-021 (DLI), charging a violation of 46 U.S.C. §§ 70506(b), 70506(a) and 21
U.S.C. § 960(b)(1)(B). The count carries the following statutory penalties:

a. Maximum term of imprisonment: life
(21 U.S.C. § 960(b)(1)(B)).

b. Minimum term of imprisonment: 10 years
(21 U.S.C. § 960(b)(1)(B)).



a. Minimum supervised release term: 5 years, maximum supervised
release term: life, to follow any term of imprisonment; if a
condition of release is violated, the defendant may be sentenced to
up to 5 years without credit for pre-release imprisonment or time
previously served on post-release supervision
(18 U.S.C. § 3583 (¢); 21 U.S.C. § 960(b)(1)(B)).

d. Maximum fine: $10,000,000
(21 U.S.C. § 960(b)(1)(B)).

e. Restitution: N/A.

f. $100 special assessment
(18 U.S.C. § 3013).

g. Other penalties: criminal forfeiture, as set forth below in
paragraphs 8 through 15; removal, as set forth below in paragraph
16
(21 U.S.C. §§ 853(p) and 881(a), 28 U.S.C. § 2461(c) and 46
U.S.C. § 70507(a)).

The Southern District of New York Indictment:

3, In connection with the indictment in United States v. Dairo Antonio Usuga

David, et. al., 04-CR-962 (S-3) (LAP) (S.D.N.Y.) (the “SDNY Indictment”), the defendant will

consent to transfer the case from the Southern District of New York to the Eastern District of
New York for plea and sentencing, pursuant to Rule 20 of the Federal Rules of Criminal
Procedure, and plead guilty to Count Two of the third superseding indictment, which has been
assigned EDNY docket number 23-CR-027 (DLI), charging a violation of 21 U.S.C. § 963. The
count carries the following statutory penalties:

a. Maximum term of imprisonment: life
(21 U.S.C. § 960(b)(1)(B)).

b. Minimum term of imprisonment: 10 years
(21 U.S.C. § 960(b)(1)(B)).



c: Minimum supervised release term: 5 years, maximum supervised
release term: life, to follow any term of imprisonment; if a
condition of release is violated, the defendant may be sentenced to
up to 5 years without credit for pre-release imprisonment or time
previously served on post-release superyvision
(18 U.S.C. § 3583 (e); 21 U.S.C. § 960(b)(1)(B)).

d. Maximum fine: $10,000,000
(21 U.S.C. § 960(b)(1)(B)).

e. Restitution: N/A.

E $100 special assessment
(18 U.S.C. § 3013).

2. Other penalties: criminal forfeiture, as set forth below in
paragraphs 8 through 15; removal, as set forth below in paragraph

(1;)] U.S.C. §§ 853(a), 853(p) and 970).
The sentences imposed by the Court on Count One of the EDNY Indictment, Count Two of the
SDFL Indictment, and Count Two of the SDNY Indictment may run consecutively to each other
and to any other sentence the defendant is currently serving.

4, The defendant understands that although imposition of a sentence in
accordance with the United States Sentencing Guidelines (the “Guidelines” and “U.S.5.G.”) is
not mandatory, the Guidelines are advisory and the Court is required to consider any applicable
Guidelines provisions as well as other factors enumerated in 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a) to arrive at an
appropriate sentence in this case. The Offices will advise the Court and the Probation
Department of information relevant to sentencing, including criminal activity engaged in by the
defendant, and such information may be used by the Court in determining the defendant’s
sentence. See 18 U.S.C. § 3661 (“No limitation shall be placed on the information concerning

the background, character, and conduct of a person convicted of an offense which a court of the

United States may receive and consider for the purpose of imposing an appropriate sentence.”).



The Offices estimate the likely adjusted offense level under the Guidelines to be 54, which is

predicated on the following Guidelines calculation:

EDNY Indictment: Continuing Criminal Enterprise

Base Offense Level (More Than 450 Kilograms of Cocaine (§§ 2D1.5(a)(1),

2D1.1(a)(5), 2D1.1(c)(1)))

Plus:
Plus:
Plus:
Plus:
Plus:

Total:

Possession of Dangerous Weapon (§ 2D1.1(b)(1))

Use of Violence (§ 2D1.1(b)(2))

Use of Semi-Submersible Vessel (§ 2D1.1(b)(3)(B))
Bribery of Law Enforcement Officials (§ 2D1.1(b)(11))

Maintained Premises for Purpose of Manﬁfacturc
or Distribution (§ 2D1.1(b)(12))

SDFL Indictment: Maritime Narcotics Conspiracy

Base Offense Level (More Than 450 Kilograms of Cocaine (§§ 2D1.1(c)(1)))

Plus:
Plus:
Plus:
Plus:
Plus:

Plus:
Plus:

Total:

Possession of Dangerous Weapon (§ 2D1.1(b)(1))

Use of Violence (§ 2D1.1(b)(2))

Use of Semi-Submersible Vessel (§ 2D1.1(b)(3)(B))
Bribery of Law Enforcement Officials (§ 2D1.1(b)(11))

Maintained Premises for Purpose of Manufacture
or Distribution (§ 2D1.1(b)(12))

Role Adjustment (§ 3B1.1(a))
Aggravating Role (§ 2D1.1(b)(16))

SDNY Indictment: Narcotics Importation Conspiracy

Base Offense Level (More Than 450 Kilograms of Cocaine (§§ 2D1.1(c)(1)))

Plus:

Possession of Dangerous Weapon (§ 2D1.1(b)(1))

5

42
+2
+2
+2

+2

+2

38
+2
+2
+2

+2

+2

+4
+2

38

+2




Plus: Use of Violence (§ 2D1.1(b)(2)) +2

Plus: Use of Semi-Submersible Vessel (§ 2D1.1(b)(3)(B)) +2
Plus:  Bribery of Law Enforcement Officials (§ 2D1.1(b)(11)) +2
Plus:  Maintained Premises for Purpose of Manufacture
or Distribution (§ 2D1.1(b)(12)) +2
Plus:  Role Adjustment (§ 3B1.1(a)) +4
Plus:  Aggravating Role (§ 2D1.1(b)(16)) +2
Total: 54
Grouping Analysis (§§ 3D1.2,3D1.4) Units Level
Highest Offense Level (SDFL/SDNY Indictment) 54

Combined Adjusted Offense Level

[

If the defendant clearly demonstrates acceptance of responsibility, through allocution and
subsequent conduct prior to the imposition of sentence, a two-level reduction will be warranted,
pursuant to U.S.S.G. § 3E1.1(a), resulting in an adjusted offense level of 52, which is to be

treated as an offense level of 43, see U.S.S.G. ch. 5, pt. A, emt. n.2, and a range of imprisonment

of life, assuming that the defendant falls within Criminal History Category 1. Furthermore, if the
defendant has accepted responsibility as described above, to the satisfaction of the Offices, and if
the defendant pleads guilty on or before January 25, 2023, an additional one-level reduction will
be warranted, pursuant to U.S.S.G. § 3E1.1(b), resulting in an adjusted offense level of 51, which
is to be treated as an offense level of 43, see U.S.S.G. ch. 5, pt. A, ecmt. n.2. This level carries a
range of imprisonment of life, assuming that the defendant falls within Criminal History
Category I. The defendant stipulates to the above Guidelines calculation. The defendant further

stipulates that the total amount of cocaine involved in the offense and for which he is responsible



pursuant to U.S.S.G. § 1B1.3 is at least 96,856 kilograms, and the defendant waives his right to a

jury trial or Fatico hearing on such issue.

5. The Guidelines estimate set forth in paragraph 4 is not binding on the
Offices, the Probation Department or the Court. If the Guidelines offense level advocated by the
Offices, or determined by the Probation Department or the Court, is, for any reason, including an
error in the estimate, different from the estimate, the defendant will not be entitled to withdraw
the plea and the government will not be deemed to have breached this agreement.

6. The defendant agrees not to file an appeal or otherwise challenge, by
petition pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2255 or any other provision, the conviction or sentence in the
event that the Court imposes a term of imprisonment of any term of years and the sentences
imposed on Count One of the EDNY Indictment, Count Two of the SDFL Indictment, and Count
Two of the SDNY Indictment run concurrently to each other. This waiver is binding without
regard to the sentencing analysis used by the Court. The defendant waives all defenses based on
venue. The defendant further waives all defenses based on the statute of limitations, venue, and
double jeopardy with respect to any prosecution that is not time-barred on the date that this
agreement is signed in the event that (a) the defendant’s conviction is later vacated for any
reason, (b) the defendant violates this agreement, or (c) the defendant’s plea is later withdrawn.
The defendant further waives the right to raise on appeal or on collateral review any argument
that (1) the statutes to which the defendant is pleading guilty are unconstitutional and (2) the
admitted conduct does not fall within the scope of the statutes. Nothing in the foregoing waiver
of appellate and collateral review rights shall preclude the defendant from raising a claim of
ineffective assistance of counsel in an appropriate forum. The defendant waives any right to

additional disclosure from the government in connection with the guilty plea. The defendant



























